# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC96767** 

# THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

# F. LEE BAILEY,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review of a Report of a Referee in a Florida Bar Disciplinary Proceeding

BRUCE ROGOW BEVERLY A. POHL BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre 500 East Broward Blvd., Ste. 1930 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 (954) 767-8909

Counsel for F. Lee Bailey

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from the July 24, 2000 Amended Report of Referee recommending that F. Lee Bailey "be disbarred from the practice of law in Florida." Amended Report, p. 20.1

The Referee, Circuit Court Judge Cynthia A. Ellis, recommended that F. Lee Bailey should be found guilty on six of the seven counts ("Allegations of Misconduct") alleged in the Florida Bar's Complaint. Her recommendation came at the conclusion of a multi-day hearing that centered upon Bailey's handling of various assets of Claude Duboc, a federal defendant for whom Bailey had negotiated a plea agreement in the Northern District of Florida in a case pending before United States District Judge Maurice Paul.

The Agreement included the forfeiture of millions of dollars of foreign assets and properties. However, one asset, 602,000 shares of Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock, was, with the acquiescence of the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Florida, transferred by Duboc to Bailey. The crux of the Bar's allegations against Bailey is the Biochem stock transfer and Bailey's use of the stock.

The Bar's Complaint alleged that the Biochem shares were given to Bailey pursuant to "an oral agreement with the United States Attorney for the Northern

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Amended Report is attached as an Appendix A to this Brief.

District of Florida for the following specific purposes: "(A) To use so much of the Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock as required for the maintenance of certain Duboc owned real and personal property located in Europe, pending the liquidation of such property. (B) To provide a res from which attorneys' fees could be paid after application and approval by Judge Paul. (C) To forfeit to the Untied States so much of the Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock or the proceeds of such stock as thereafter remained to inure to the benefit of Duboc and the United States of America." Complaint, ¶¶ 6 and 27. The Complaint alleged:

This *oral trust agreement* was announced and ratified by Respondent [Bailey] during a meeting in chambers with Judge Paul on May 17, 1994.

Complaint, ¶¶ 7 and 28 (emphasis supplied).

The Bar's Complaint claimed that Bailey used some of the Biochem stock (which had risen in value) to generate funds for his personal use:

The expenditures by Respondent of approximately \$3.6 million for his law offices, other business interests and payment of personal expenses, funded by the sales and loan proceeds from the Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock, had no nexus to the specific purposes of the entrustment of such stock to Respondent and constitute misappropriations.

Complaint, ¶ 29.

As a result, the Bar alleged Bailey violated various Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (Rule 3-4.3; 4-8.4(b); 4-8.4(c); 5-1.1; 4-1.15(a)). Complaint ¶'s 30-32, Second Allegation of Misconduct.

On January 12, 1996, Judge Paul entered an Order that approved the substitution of new counsel for Duboc, but retained jurisdiction "over Bailey to obtain from him a full accounting of the monies and properties held in trust by him for the United States of America." The Order also required that "[a]ll monies. . . and other assets received by Bailey from or on behalf of Duboc, including the aforementioned shares of Biochem Pharma stock shall be frozen as of the date of this Order and no further disbursement of any of these funds shall be made unless authorized by this Court. Bar Exhibit 1; Appendix C. A second Order, dated January 25, 1996, required Bailey to appear before Judge Paul on February 1, 1996 and "bring with him all shares of stock of Biochem Pharma, Inc., held by him [and] . . . be prepared to make a full accounting as to all assets he received from Claude Duboc. . . ." Bar Exhibit 2; Appendix F.

The Bar alleged that Bailey's personal money market account contained sales and loan proceeds derived from Biochem stock and "[b]y continuing to expend funds from his money market account after service upon and knowledge by the Respondent of the January 12, 1996. . . and January 25, 1996 order[s] of the Court," Bailey

violated Rule 3-4.3, 4-3.4(c) and 4-8.4(d). Complaint, ¶ 43, Third Allegation of Misconduct.

The Fourth Allegation of Misconduct in the Bar's Complaint alleged that Bailey testified falsely that he had not seen the January 12 and 25 Orders until February 2, 1996, thus violating Rules 3-4.3, 4.8.4(b), 4-8.4(c) and Rule 4-3.3(a)(1). Complaint ¶¶ 44-48.

The Fifth Allegation of Misconduct alleged that "[b]y appropriating to his own uses and purposes proceeds derived from the Biochem Pharma, Inc. shares entrusted to him," Bailey's exercise of independent judgment was limited by his own interests; that he acquired a pecuniary interest adverse to his client; and used information to the disadvantage of his client. Rules 4-1.7(b), 4-1.8(a) and (b).

The Bar's sixth count was dismissed.

The Bar's Seventh Allegation of Misconduct involved an *ex parte* letter sent by Bailey to Judge Paul on January 4, 1996, another letter sent on January 21, 1996 and a May 10, 1996 Affidavit filed in proceedings before Judge Paul, all of which related to the Duboc matter and the Biochem stock. The Bar alleged that those submissions were improper under Rules 4-3.5(a), 4-3.5(b), 4-1.6(a), 4-1.8(a), 4-1.8(b) and 4-1.7(b). Complaint, ¶¶ 55-66.

Another Duboc related allegation of misconduct was Bailey's deposit of \$730,000 from the sale of certain Japanese stocks held by Duboc into Bailey's non-trust money market account, which was then disbursed from that account to the United States Marshall. The Complaint alleged that transaction violated Rule 4-1.15(a) because the monies were not held in trust. Complaint, ¶¶ 23-26, First Allegation of Misconduct. As to Count I, the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent. . . failed to set up a separate account. . . and . . . commingl[ed] . . . the \$730,000 during the time the funds were held by him in his private account." Appendix A, p. 5, ¶ 8.

As to Count II, the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent misappropriated sales and loan proceeds from the Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock and commingled the sales and loan proceeds with his own funds. . . ." Appendix A, p. 9,  $\P$  15.

As to Count III, the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence" that the Respondent violated certain Rules "by engaging in conduct which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice. . . by engaging in criminal misconduct. . . by engaging in conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, and . . . by misusing money held in trust" and by "expending funds from the account after. . . knowledge of the January 12, 1996 order. . . ." Appendix A, p. 10, ¶¶ 11-12.

As to Count IV the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent lied" when he repeatedly said "that he did not see the January 12 and January 25 orders prior to February 2. . . . " Appendix A, p. 13, ¶ 10.

As to Count V, the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence" that the Respondent used information to the disadvantage of his client. Appendix A, p. 14,  $\P \P 10$ , 13.

As to Count VII, the Referee found "by clear and convincing evidence that there was an improper communication. ." and that information detrimental to the client was revealed. Appendix A, p. 17,  $\P$  14-15,

The Referee recommended disbarment. Bailey's Petition for Review seeks reversal of the findings, and rejection of the recommendation of disbarment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. THE BIOCHEM PHARMA, INC. STOCK AND DUBOC

Claude Duboc was a Canadian drug dealer who was indicted in the Northern District of Florida and after his arrest was brought to Tallahassee in April, 1994. TR 239-240. He was represented by F. Lee Bailey and Robert Shapiro, a California lawyer, and before Duboc's first appearance they met with Assistant United States Attorneys Gregory Miller, Tom Kirwin and Roy Atchison, and DEA Agent Carl Lilley.

TR 240-241. Some of the discussion was about forfeiture of Duboc's assets, and within the week, Duboc's lawyers indicated to the government their client's willingness to enter into a plea agreement, which would include Duboc forfeiting assets to the United States. TR 242-247. The Duboc assets included "tens of millions of dollars in properties" in France, which required substantial sums to be expended to maintain them in an effort to successfully liquidate them. TR 317. One property was an estate outside of Paris valued at six million dollars, and another near Cannes, valued at twenty-five million dollars. TR 129. The Cannes house had "20 employees on staff." TR 554. Two yachts at a Cannes marina were also worth millions. TR 560-561. Another asset was 602,000 shares of Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock, which was worth about "six and a half million dollars." TR 250-252. Duboc believed the stock would go up in value, and did not want it sold in a block by the government because sale of such a large block would depress the stock. TR 252-253.

There was a suggestion that an asset should be set aside to pay for the expenses and management of the to-be-liquidated properties. AUSA Miller said he was "not sure if I put this on the table first or he [Bailey] brought it up first – but allowing Judge Paul to make a decision as to what a reasonable fee would be in the case; and if the United States, rather than seizing and forfeiting those funds, allowing the Judge to use

The actual value of the stock was \$5,891,352. Appendix D, p. 5.

that pool he set aside to manage the property, and to also be used by the court to authorize or pay Mr. Bailey's attorney's fees based on the court's determination of reasonableness." TR 250. Miller continued: "[H]e was authorized to sell only those portions of the stocks that were needed to pay, on a reasonable basis, whatever expenses were being incurred in the management of these properties overseas, which were accruing very large monthly costs for upkeep of these properties. TR 251-252. Miller said: "He [Bailey] agreed to those terms." TR 254.

There was nothing in writing setting forth or confirming Miller's "terms." On May 17, 1994, before Duboc was to enter a guilty plea, Miller, who "was the one representing the government and making statements on behalf of the United States" (TR 256), concluded that a pre-plea meeting with Judge Paul was "imperative" because "Judge Paul was very strict" and that he should "be made aware of the arrangement, because if the judge were not inclined to go along with this and to allow the funds to be used in this manner, it would have caused a serious problem had we attempted to enter this plea agreement. . . ." TR 256-257.

There was no court reporter at the "pre-plea" meeting. There is no transcript of what occurred. Present were AUSA's Miller, Kirwin and Atchison, the United States Attorney Michael Patterson, DEA Agent Carl Lilley, Bailey, and Miami lawyer Edward Shohat, who became, for a time, co-counsel for Duboc. AUSA Miller was

the lead attorney (TR 255-256) and he related that he "had been tipped of by Mr. Bailey that his co-counsel Mr. Shohat was going to ask to have some stock given to him. . . and that he recommended that we oppose that. . . ." TR 258. Mr. Shohat made that request and AUSA Miller related to the Referee what he said he told Judge Paul:

[I] interjected myself and said that we were opposed to that.

I had mentioned to the court at that specific time that approximately six and a half million dollars in stock had been given to the defense *in trust* by their client to hold and to be used for two purposes.

The stocks are to be held *in trust* to be sold only as needed, and it was explained to the court these stocks were expected to be very valuable, appreciate in value, and the defense would be selling only those portions of the stock as needed to manage and keep up these properties, that no fees were going to be taken out of those stocks by the defense for the purpose of attorney fees or costs, and that the defense had agreed to only apply for their fees and costs associated with representation at the conclusion of the case, and that they were going to be agreeable to letting the court determine on a reasonable basis whether or not they were going to be entitled to those fees that were being claimed.

Both Mr. Shohat and Mr. Bailey agreed to that with the court, acknowledged their acceptance of the understanding of what I had represented, and that was pretty much the substance of what was discussed in chambers.

The Judge indicated that he was agreeable to that disposition and the use of the funds as proposed, and we then made arrangements for the court to accept Claude Duboc's plea.

TR 259-260 (emphasis supplied).

AUSA Tom Kirwin, who made notes, said "I know I had a note there about Mr. Shohat and the Japanese stock. I know I had a note about Mr. Bailey, and Mr. Shohat assured the court that they had not taken any fees from the Duboc case yet. I believe I had a note in there concerning the agreement to let them use the funds to market and maintain the houses and pay expenses." TR 149-150. Subsequent to the Bar hearing, Kirwin was deposed in the Court of Claims case brought by Bailey against the United States to secure the return to him of the Biochem assets that Judge Paul ultimately took from Bailey.<sup>3</sup> Kirwin had been unable to find one note at the Bar hearing, but at the Court of Claims deposition the retrieved note prompted this colloquy:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> That case, styled *F. Lee Bailey v. United States*, in the United States Court of Federal Claims, No. 96-666C (Judge Horn) is awaiting trial. This Court granted Bailey's Motion to Supplement the Bar Record with the Kirwin and other depositions in that case.

#### BY MR. HOROWITZ [BAILEY'S COUNSEL]

- Q. Okay. Would the that note, one of the notes on that page concern the hearing in front of Judge Paul.
- A. [MR. KIRWIN] Uh-hum.
- Q. Is that correct?
- A. Uh-hum. It is.

\* \* \*

Q. Okay. So we'll – we'll refer to that as the best record of – of that proceeding.

But – so now in relation to the in-chambers discussion that your notes make reference to

- A. Uh-hum.
- Q. was there a statement by anyone at that meeting that the Biochem Pharma stock was received by Bailey in trust?
- A. I don't remember that the words "in trust" were ever used.

Kirwin Deposition, Supplemental Record, pp. 266-268 (emphasis supplied). Then United States Attorney Michael Patterson, who was at the May 17, 1994 hearing as "an observer," said that Judge Paul was advised that "some of the property would be available at the end of the case potentially for fees, but that no amount of money was

going to be taken by counsel from Duboc's assets without court approval." TR 485. Patterson's testimony made no mention of a "trust." TR 482-493.

Ed Shohat, co-counsel for Duboc, told the Referee "This trust agreement was spelled out for the Judge." TR 520. Shohat described the off– the– record meeting as brief:

We went into the Judge's chambers and initially, Mr. Duboc was brought into the chambers; but the Judge, as I recall practically immediately directed the Marshal to take Mr. Duboc out of the chambers, and the rest of us were in the chambers for probably no more than five or ten minutes at the very most.

TR 519. Shohat said Judge Paul was told that Mr. Bailey was going to assist the court by selling assets and that "the stock which was being separated out would be returned at the end of the day and from that asset the Judge would be – a motion would be filed for a reasonable attorney's fee for Mr. Bailey and myself, and possibly Mr. Shapiro. . . ." TR 520.

The risk was all Bailey's:

[MR. BEVERLY, Bailey's Counsel]

- Q. My question is this, Mr. Miller: How did you explain the risk to Mr. Bailey?
- A. [AUSA MILLER] I said that that was the only account that we were making available to him,

that stock fund; that if it went down, he was risking that he was not going to be able to pull out the monies that he needed to manage those properties; and possibly not have the money in that fund to pay his fees.

\* \* \*

Q. Did you ever tell Mr. Bailey that had the stock gone down, had there been insufficient funds with which to pay his fee, that that was a gamble which he was taking and that if he ran out of money that he simply would have to do without a fee?

\* \* \*

A. Essentially yes. Essentially, that's basically what I told Mr. Bailey. . . .

TR 351-352.

The government arranged the transfer of Biochem Pharma, Inc. stock to Bailey. AUSA Roy Atchison, who had been doing forfeiture work for "17 plus years," was asked "how many deals like that have you entered into when you had absolutely no written memorandum of any kind?" He answered "This is the only one involving shares of stock that I recall." TR 451. Atchison prepared the only written document – the letter signed by Duboc transferring the 602,000 shares of Biochem Pharma, Inc. to Bailey's numbered account at Credit Suisse, Geneva, Switzerland:

A. [ATCHISON] Well, I had the letter typed. Claude wrote it, I had it typed, he signed it, and I helped him send it.

\* \* \*

- Q. So there was no secret as to A, where the money was going –
- A. That's correct.
- Q. And B, what the identity of the account was.
- A. That's correct.

#### TR 437.

Duboc wrote the letter "by hand on a yellow pad for me and I [Atchison] had it typed." TR 409. A copy of the letter is attached as Appendix G. It says simply "as to the shares of Bio Chem send them to the following account," and identifies Bailey's account number.

- Q. Mr. Atchison does the word "Trust" or "Trustee" appear in that document at all?
- A. No, it does not. That was not in any of the letters.

#### TR 409.

Bailey did not understand there to be a "trust" agreement.

Bailey knew that he was accountable for the use of the stock to manage and

liquidate Duboc's properties, but since he took the risk of loss of value, he believed he was not restrained from benefitting as to any gain in the stock price.

- Q. [BAR COUNSEL] Mr. Bailey, is it your contention that when you discussed this matter with Mr. Miller and you subsequently received that Biochem stock, that money was transferred to you in fee simple?
- A. Yes. Effectively it was.

\* \* \*

- Q. It was a done deal why?
- A. Because they chose to transfer it in fee simple to a non trust account and they knew it was a non trust account and they never said anything about getting it back.

TR 986.

Bailey recounted what happened at the May 17, 1994 Judge Paul off-the-record pre-plea meeting:

- Q. [BAR COUNSEL] Could you tell the Court what was said at the pre-plea?
- A. [BAILEY]: Yes. Very quickly we sat down, I don't believe Judge Paul was there. He came in. . . and he directed that Duboc be taken out. I think the court reporter walked in and he sent her out.

And Greg Miller began to explain that we had a change of plea to be taken, we had

reached a plea agreement, it had been executed and some forfeitures were going to take place.

\* \* \*

Ed Shohat had already taken a run at the Japanese stock and been turned away. He was told no, no, no. The defense has six million. That's enough.

\* \* \*

And he [Miller]. . . said no, we have given six million dollars to Mr. Bailey and that is enough.

At which point I added, yes and final approval on whatever fees are taken, Judge, will be in your hands, and as of the moment no one has been paid anything out of that fund.

- Q. So you acknowledge that you did in fact tell Judge Paul that final approval for fees would be in his hands.
- A. I never have deviated from that.
- Q. Why would Judge Paul need to approve fees that belong to you?
- A. Because the government had been instrumental in transferring them to me and they wanted to create a fiction [in case other counsel wanted a similar transfer]. . They can say, we don't approve fees, that's all up to the Judge.

TR 992-994. Bailey was asked whether the other witnesses who testified about the

pre-plea meeting were "not telling the truth when they came in here?" Bailey replied:

A. First of all they're in sharp disagreement. Two of them, I believe never heard the word trust. Third, Mr. [Pete] Fuster [Bailey's pilot who was at the Judge Paul conference], who has taken a polygraph on the matter, didn't hear the word "trust."

\* \* \*

I have not heard Judge Paul say anything, but I assure you the word "trust" was never used that day and I never heard it until I heard it from Greg Miller on January 19 [1996].

TR 995-996.4

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