IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. SC96767
TFB Nos. 1996-51,085(15B)
1997-50,110(15B)

vs.

F. LEE BAILEY,

Respondent.

_____ /

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

DAVID R. RISTOFF
7026 Little Road
New Port Richey, Florida 34654
(727) 842-9758
Florida Bar No. 0358576

DEBRA JOYCE DAVIS
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Tampa Airport Marriott, Suite C-49
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar No. 0093556

TERRANCE E. SCHMIDT
1301 Riverplace Blvd., Suite 1818
Jacksonville, Florida 32207-9022
(904) 398-1818
Florida Bar No. 0165042

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

In fact, Respondent transferred \$290,000.00 of the aforementioned disbursements to his personal account on January 29, 1996, to cover at least nine checks dated January 25, 1996, which were used to repay Respondent's line of credit with Republic Bank (\$150,000.00), fund Respondent's business interests (\$106,126.70), and fund Respondent's personal expenses (\$13,078.46). Complaint and Answer to Complaint, par. 41; Ex. 20, 21, 22, 25, 26. Respondent's bank records illustrate that he depended on the Biochem stock to fund his personal financial obligations.

By misusing and misappropriating sales and loan proceeds derived from the Biochem stock, Respondent violated Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3-4.3 (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and

justice); 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not engage in criminal misconduct); 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) and 5-1.1(a) (money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose).

By continuing to expend funds from his money market account after service upon and knowledge by the Respondent of the January 12 and the January 25, 1996 orders of the Court, Respondent violated Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3-4.3 (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct that is contrary to honesty and justice); 4-3.4(c) (a lawyer shall not knowingly disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exists) and 4-8.4(d) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice).

Count IV

Respondent's misrepresentations to Judge Paul concerning the dates and times that Respondent saw and read the January 12, 1996 and January 25, 1996 orders violated several Rules, including those prohibiting dishonesty and false statements to a tribunal. In the February 1996 proceedings before Judge Paul, Respondent testified that he did not see the January 12, 1996 or January 25, 1996 orders, referenced above, until February 2, 1996. Complaint and Answer to

Complaint, par. 44; Ex. 41, February 2, 1996 transcript testimony of Respondent, at p. 210, line 18 through p. 216, line 8 and p. 203, lines 5 through 7. Respondent had, however, received a copy of the January 12, 1996 order on January 16, 1996, and had received a copy of the January 25, 1996 order on January 25, 1996.

Respondent testified at the final hearing in the instant case that his fax machine in his New York apartment was turned off on January 12, 1996, but that it was operational on January 16, 1996. TR 1086 - 1090. Respondent claims to have read only those faxes pertaining to the case of *U. S. v Watts* on January 16, 1996, and not Judge Paul's order of January 12, 1996. TR p. 1088, line 23 through p. 1090, line 23. Respondent's associate, Ms. Toni Kennedy, discussed the order during a telephone conversation with the Respondent on January 15 or 16, 1996. RR 11; TR 1090; Ex. P. AUSA Kirwin also discussed the January 12, 1996 order during a telephone conversation with the Respondent on January 16, 1996. TR 169 - 171. Respondent told AUSA Kirwin that because of Judge Paul's order, he would not do anything with the stock, including paying some insurance bills he had received on one of the French properties, until Judge Paul decided who should pay those bills. TR 171.

Further, Respondent returned to his West Palm Beach office on January 17, 1996, and spent the entire next day, January 18, 1996, in the office

preparing an accounting to comply with the January 12, 1996 order, but claims not to have read Judge Paul's order. TR p. 1090, line 24 through p. 1071, line 15.

Respondent also attended a meeting with AUSAs Miller and Kirwin on January 19, 1996, during which he acknowledged receiving the order and complained that it had been obtained *ex parte*. TR Miller's testimony, 268 - 276.

Judge Ellis found "patently ludicrous" Respondent's statement that he did not see the January 12 and January 25, 1996 orders until February 2, 1996. RR 12-13; Ex. 5, Judge Paul's February 29, 1996 Order of Civil Contempt, p. 2. By testifying falsely, under oath, before Judge Paul, Respondent violated Rules 3-4.3 (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct contrary to honesty and justice); 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not engage in criminal misconduct) and 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation). This false testimony also violated Rule 4-3.3(a)(1) (a lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal). Judge Ellis concluded that the Respondent had also testified falsely before her at the final hearing. RR 21.

Count V

By appropriating to his own uses and purposes proceeds derived from the Biochem shares entrusted to him, Respondent deprived Duboc and the United States Government of the value of the stock and deprived Duboc of the benefit he

sought to obtain at the time of his sentencing. TR Shohat testimony 530; Ex. 34, sworn statement of Claude Duboc, pp.15 - 16; Ex. 45, Judge Paul's order of October 23, 1997, p. 30. Respondent's claim of owning the stock in "fee simple," and the appreciation of the stock's value, clearly placed him in a financial position adverse to his client. Judge Ellis found that the conflict was both "blatant and obvious" because the more Respondent gained, the less Duboc would have to contribute in the form of "extraordinary cooperation." RR 14.

Respondent testified at the final hearing that he did not reduce the terms of his claimed interest in the appreciation of the stock to writing, and that he did not advise Duboc to consult with another attorney about the proposed transaction, or obtain Duboc's written consent to Respondent's claimed ownership interest. TR 1018, line 24 through 1019, line 14.

Respondent's memorandum dated July 18, 1994, to Claude Duboc's father, Raymond Duboc, illustrates his attitude of self-dealing regarding the French property in Vallauris. ⁹ Ex. 48. TR 1069 - 1072. Despite Respondent's assurances to the government that he had the contacts and resources to arrange the sale, liquidation and repatriation of the French assets, his own memorandum

⁹ A copy of the July 18, 1994 Memo is attached as Appendix F.

illustrates his extreme self-dealing and contradicts those assertions to the government. TR 417 - 418. Respondent stated that he was “certainly in no hurry” to sell, adding that “[i]ndeed, because of its breathtaking beauty, I am disposed to return here frequently until title passes to another.” Ex. 48, p. 1. Respondent also stated that he was negotiating with a potential buyer who would allow him “the use of the house for two weeks per year for ten years.” Ex. 48, p. 2.

Accordingly, Respondent violated Rules 4-1.7(b) (a lawyer shall not represent a client if the lawyer’s exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation may be materially limited by the lawyer’s own interest); 4-1.8(a) (a lawyer shall not knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client, except a lien granted by law to secure a lawyer’s fee or expenses, unless: (1) the transaction and terms on which the lawyer acquires the interest are fair and reasonable to the client and are fully disclosed and transmitted *in writing* to the client in a manner that can be reasonably understood by the client; (2) the client is given a reasonable opportunity to seek the advice of independent counsel in the transaction; and (3) the client consents *in writing* thereto). Respondent’s conduct also violated Rule 4-1.8(b) (a lawyer shall not use information relating to a representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client).

Count VI - Dismissed

Count VII

In letters dated January 4 and January 21, 1996 to Judge Paul, Respondent further violated rules prohibiting conflicts of interest, self-dealing, disclosure of confidential information, *ex parte* communications, and improper attempts to influence a trier of fact.

In December 1995, Henry Uscinski and Mark Lebow filed on behalf of Duboc a Motion for Substitution of Counsel to replace and substitute Respondent. Complaint and Answer to Complaint, par. 55. On January 4, 1996, Respondent wrote an *ex parte* letter to Judge Paul.¹⁰ Ex. 12; Ex. 28, 29, Request for Admissions and Answer, par. 30. In this letter, Respondent made disparaging remarks about the counsel that would replace him, knowing that upon his discharge, Respondent would be required to account for the stock that he was holding in trust, and that his misuse and misappropriation of trust funds would be discovered. RR 7.

The January 4, 1996 letter constituted an improper communication with Judge Paul as defined by Rules 4-3.5(a) (a lawyer shall not seek to influence a

¹⁰ A copy of the January 4, 1996 letter is attached as Appendix B.

judge, juror, prospective juror, or other decision maker except as permitted by law or the rules of Court) and 4-3.5(b) (in an adversary proceeding a lawyer shall not communicate or cause another to communicate as to the merits of the cause with a judge or an official before whom the proceeding is pending).

This January 4, 1996 letter also made repeated references to confidential communications between Respondent and his client, Claude Duboc, including that Duboc was at one time urged to help set up a drug offense so that he could disclose it to the government and win “brownie points” for sentencing purposes, and that Duboc was on two other occasions counseled to “hold back” information in order to have “a little something left” to offer in exchange for a Rule 35 motion. Ex. 12, p. 2; and TR testimony of Shohat, at p. 533, line 4 through p. 537, line 11. Respondent also included information in that letter that disparaged the case and his client, including comments that none of the counts was triable and that Duboc was a “multi-millionaire druggie.” Ex. 12, at p. 2.

Respondent’s January 4, 1996 letter to Judge Paul violated Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.6(a) (a lawyer shall not reveal information relating to representation of a client) and 4-1.8(b) (a lawyer shall not use information relating to the representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the client consents after consultation). Further, Respondent sent no copies of the

January 4, 1996 letter to the federal prosecutors in the case or to any other party, as is required by Rule 4-3.5(b)(2). Ex. 12; Complaint and Answer to Complaint, par. 59.

On January 21, 1996, Respondent sent a second letter to Judge Paul with a copy to one of the federal prosecutors. Ex. 17; Complaint and Answer to Complaint, par. 60. In the January 21, 1996 letter, Respondent threatened to reveal privileged matters if Duboc persisted in his claim that the stock did not belong to Respondent. Ex. 17, at p. 7. The January 21, 1996 letter constituted an improper communication with Judge Paul as defined by Rule 4-3.5(a) (a lawyer shall not seek to influence a judge, juror, prospective juror, or other decision maker except as permitted by law or the rules of Court).

The January 21, 1996 letter also made repeated references to confidential communications between Respondent and his client, Claude Duboc, in violation of Rules 4-1.6(a) (a lawyer shall not reveal information relating to representation of a client) and 4-1.8(b) (a lawyer shall not use information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of a client unless the client consents after consultation). TR testimony of Shohat at p. 537, line 12 through p. 540, line 5.

Respondent's claim of an absolute ownership interest in the Biochem stock constitutes a conflict of interest with Duboc in violation of Rules 4-1.8(a) (a lawyer

shall not enter into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquire an ownership interest adverse to a client); 4-1.8(b) (a lawyer shall not use information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the client consents after consultation) and 4-1.7(b) (a lawyer shall not represent a client if the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person or by the lawyer's own interest).

As set forth above and in extensive detail in the Report of Referee, the record contains substantial, competent evidence that clearly and convincingly supports Judge Ellis' findings of fact and recommendations of guilt. The Referee was in the best position to review the evidence and to assess the credibility of the witnesses who testified during the five-day final hearing. Therefore, consistent with its prior holdings, this Court should not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the Referee, but should approve Judge Ellis' findings of fact and recommendations of guilt.

II. Judge Ellis appropriately exercised her discretion to exclude polygraph evidence and expert witness testimony.

In addition to Respondent's arguments that he did not believe he held the stock in trust and that there was no clear and convincing evidence of a trust, he also

argues that Judge Ellis erred in excluding polygraph evidence and expert witness testimony. Respondent's brief, pp. 45 - 49. In both instances, Judge Ellis heard the arguments of counsel, applied applicable law, and made informed, reasoned decisions to exclude the proffered evidence. These decisions were well within the Referee's discretion.

Judge Ellis heard the arguments of counsel and considered case law submitted on the admissibility of polygraph evidence and, thereafter, declined to consider in evidence the proffered testimony of two polygraph examiners, George Slattery (who tested the Respondent's pilot, Joaquin Fuster, on May 14, 1996) and James Earle (who tested the Respondent on May 27, 2000). TR pp. 656 - 726. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Cassamassima v. State*, 657 So.2d 906, 907 - 908 (5th DCA 1995) noted that, since 1952, polygraph results have been inadmissible in Florida to prove guilt, although polygraph evidence may be admitted by agreement of the parties. Although Respondent acknowledged before Judge Ellis that under existing law, polygraph evidence is inadmissible in Florida (TR 657), he nevertheless argues that polygraph evidence should be considered as to the merits and mitigation in this case, relying on *Florida Bar v. Pavlick*, 504 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 1987).

In *Pavlick*, the Bar sought to disbar an attorney based on a felony

conviction. This Court upheld a referee's decision to admit polygraph results as "evidence in mitigation" *Id.* at 1234. Judge Ellis distinguished *Pavlick*, on a factual basis and also because that referee considered the polygraph evidence in mitigation only, not as substantive proof. The admissibility of polygraph evidence in bar disciplinary proceedings was not specifically an issue before this Court in *Pavlick*. In Justice Ehrlich's dissent, however, he stated that the "referee was impressed with and apparently influenced by, testimony of a witness who administered a polygraph test to respondent, which evidence, while admissible in a bar proceeding, would be clearly inadmissible in a trial because the reliability of a polygraph test has not been proven." *Pavlick* at 1235.

Respondent cites *United States v. Piccinonna* (I), 885 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1989) for the proposition that polygraph evidence is admissible in federal courts in this circuit. *Piccinonna* provides a three-prong test for the potential admissibility of unstipulated polygraph evidence in the Eleventh Circuit: (1) advance notice, (2) the opportunity for the opposing side to conduct its own polygraph examination, and (3) admissibility under the Federal Rules of Evidence. *Id.* at 1536 - 37. Respondent did not proffer the testimony of Dr. Earle until the morning of the final hearing, and therefore, he clearly failed to meet the first two requirements of *Piccinonna* (I). Also, Judge Ellis noted that Dr. Earle's report could be

procedurally barred, as noncompliant with three orders on case management conferences. TR 723.

Although this Court has not specifically addressed the admissibility of polygraph evidence in bar disciplinary proceedings, other than by dicta in Justice Erhlich's dissent in *Pavlick*, the rules adopted by this Court governing bar admissions provide that the admissibility of polygraph results shall be in accordance with Florida Law. By analogy, Respondent's request for consideration of the polygraph evidence in this proceeding should be denied, because unstipulated polygraph results are not admissible in Florida. In *United States v. Piccinonna (II)*, the district court highlighted compelling reasons for excluding polygraph evidence:

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